MANHATTAN NURSING & REHABILITATION CENTER, LLC, ET AL.

APPELLANTS,

NO. 2008-CA-00925

LOUISE WILLIAMS, ET AL.

v.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Circuit Court For Hinds County The Hon. Winston L. Kidd Presiding No. 251-07-108 CIV

THE LAW & MEDIATION OFFICES OF REBECCA ADELMAN, PLC

Rebecca Adelman, Chase Pittman, Chase Pittman,

Counsel of Record for Appellants Manhattan Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, LLC Bobbie Blackard and Laura Clark

> 545 South Main St., Suite 111 Memphis, Tennessee 38103 Tel., 901/529-9313 Fax., 901/529-8772 www.adelmanfirm.com

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMATION OF ARGUMENT.
ARGUMENT
Appellants did not waive their right to arbitrate
The Court should remand for discovery
Alternatively, the Appellee is estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement
CONCLUSION.
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

ı.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<i>MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton,</i> p. 9 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006)
Pass Termite and Pest Control v. Walker,p. 10 904 So.2d 1030 (Miss. 2004)
Century 21 Maselle and Associates, Inc. v. Smith,p. 11 965 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 2007)
<i>Owens v. Nat'l Health Corp.</i> ,
<i>Beverly Enterprises-Mississippi, Inc. v. Powell,</i> p. 14 2007 WL 2228537 (5 th Cir. Aug. 3, 2007)
Washington Mutual Finance Group, LLC v. Bailey,p. 16 364 F.3d 260 (5 th Cir. 2004)
<i>Blinco v. Green Tree Servicing LLC</i> ,
Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH,p. 16 206 F.3d 411 (4th Cir.2000)
<i>Terminix Intern., Inc. v. Rice,</i> p. 16 904 So.2d 1051 (Miss. 2004)

ι

i

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying Appellants' Motions to Compel Arbitration on the ground that Appellants waived their right to compel arbitration?

II. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Motions to Compel Arbitration upon an implicit finding that Louise Williams was not estopped from challenging the underlying Arbitration Agreement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case underlying this appeal is based upon allegations that Willie Mae Henderson sustained injury resulting from a deficient course of care rendered to her at Manhattan Nursing and Rehabilitation Center ("Manhattan"), a skilled-nursing facility in Jackson. Louise Williams, one of the daughters of Ms. Henderson, commenced this case in the Circuit Court for Hinds County with her Complaint, filed on January 31, 2007. (T.R.,¹ Vol. 1, p. 3). The first document filed by Appellants in responding to the Complaint was their Motion to Compel Arbitration. (T.R, Vol. 1, p. 13). The Motion was predicated upon an Arbitration Agreement contained with Ms. Henderson's greater contract for healthcare services. (T.R, Vol. 1, p. 66).

On April 19, 2007, Ms. Williams opposed the Motion to Compel Arbitration with *inter alia* the affidavits of both Ms. Williams, (T.R, Vol. 1, p. 85), and another daughter, Mary Still. (T.R, Vol. 1, p. 83). In the affidavits, Ms. Williams and Ms. Still testified to facts supporting their grounds for opposing the Motion. Roughly one month later, on May 25, 2007, after some discussions between counsel, Ms. Williams unilaterally set the Motion for hearing on the Circuit Court's next hearing date, August 16, 2007, (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 172), and on June 1, 2007, Appellants promptly requested the depositions of the affiants concerning their affidavit testimony. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 189). As Appellants understood her counsel's sometimes confusing correspondence, Ms. Williams immediately took the position that merely because they sought to take any discovery relating to her grounds for opposing their Motion, Appellants had automatically waived their right to enforce the Arbitration Agreement. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 191, 197). Thus, Ms. Williams argued, there was nothing left to be done but to bring the Motion for hearing where it could be promptly denied. (*Id.*).

¹ References to the technical record are denominated "T.R."

Appellants filed a notice cancelling the hearing of their Motion, (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 174), which they served upon the Circuit Court, (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 205), and Appellants renewed their efforts to move discovery relative to Ms. Williams' grounds for opposing the motion forward. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 202). Although she knew that Appellants could not be available on the hearing date, Ms. Williams nevertheless appeared before the Circuit Court on August 16, 2007. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 226). On August 22, 2007, the Circuit Court signed an order denying the Motion, ruling essentially that Appellants had waived their right to enforce the Arbitration Agreement. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 176). Not knowing of the entry of the order, Appellants filed a motion for permission to take discovery limited to the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement, (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 177-80), but the Circuit Court then entered a second order, correcting certain facts but maintaining the ruling that Appellants had waived their right to arbitrate. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 181). From those orders, Appellants appealed. (T.R, Vol. 2, p. 182)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Louise Williams, the appellee here, is a daughter of Willie Mae Henderson, (T.R, Vol. 1, p. 85), and she is and the plaintiff below. (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 3, at ¶1; p. 85). Mary Still is likewise a daughter of Ms. Henderson. (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 83). To admit her mother to Manhattan, Ms. Still signed a healthcare-services contract with Manhattan, the Admission Agreement, (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 53), and the Arbitration Agreement included therein. (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 67). When she was admitted to Manhattan, "Ms. Henderson suffered from and had been diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease at the time and was incapable of rendering any decision on her own." (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 155). Appellant Manhattan Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, LLC, is the entity operating Manhattan. (T.R., p. 4, at ¶9). Appellant Bobbie Blackard is the administrator of the facility, (T.R., p. 3, at ¶4), and Laura Clark is the Director of Nursing at Manhattan. (T.R., p. 3, at ¶3).

SUMMATION OF ARGUMENTS

Appellants respectfully submit herein three arguments:

First, they argue that the Circuit Court's conclusion that they waived their right to enforce the Arbitration Agreement is contrary to the applicable case law and should be reversed.

Second, they argue that this case should be remanded to the lower court so that discovery may proceed into Ms. Williams' evidentiary grounds for challenging the Arbitration Agreement.

Third, and alternatively, this Court should find that Ms. Williams is conclusively estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement and should further reverse and remand with instructions to enforce the Agreement.

ARGUMENTS

1. Appellants did not waive their right to enforce the Arbitration Agreement.

Again, the Circuit Court denied Appellants' Motion to Compel Arbitration on the premise that Appellants waived their right to enforce the underlying Arbitration Agreement. Appellants respectfully submit that the ruling of the lower court is contrary to Mississippi law and should be reversed.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi addressed the waiver doctrine in the landmark decision of *MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton*, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006) ("*Horton*"). Laying the legal framework, the Supreme Court stated the fundamental premises that a waiver of the right to arbitrate is not favored and that the courts presume against that conclusion. *Horton*, 926 So.2d at 179 (¶39). The Supreme Court further articulated the bright-line rules determining whether a waiver has occurred: "a party who invokes the right to compel arbitration and pursues that right will not ordinarily waive the right simply because of involvement in the litigation process, and a party who seeks to compel arbitration after a long delay will not ordinarily be found to have waived the right where there has been no participation in, or advancement of, the litigation process." *Id.* at 180 (¶41). The Court further held: "where ... there is a substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, we will not hesitate to find a waiver of the right to compel arbitration." *Id.* at (¶42).

Here, contrary to the lower court's ruling, the record simply fails to overcome the presumption against Appellant's alleged waiver of their right to arbitrate. First, Appellants did not delay in "pursuing" their right to compel arbitration. The *very first* document filed by Appellants in responding to Ms. Williams Complaint was their Motion to Compel Arbitration. Thereafter, because Ms. Williams' submission of affidavits created an evidentiary burden to

which Appellants needed to respond, they pursued their right to enforce the solid and Agreement by seeking discovery limited to Ms. Williams' grounds for opposing the Agreement's Second, from the filing of that motion until the date when the lower court entered its field solid denying the motion, Appellants did nothing to "advance" or participate in litigation is the solid of the underlying case – they served no written discovery relating to Mst. Milliams' deposition in order to discover her reasons for others they filed no motions for summary judgment on her claims, they did not enter into a served solid order, etc. Appellants were well within and sheltered by the foregoing bright face solid order, articulated in *Horton*.

Appellants acknowledge of course that they sought to depose Ms. Williams and the additional the affiants whose affidavits Ms. Williams submitted to oppose Appellants' Motion to second Arbitration. But to find a waiver on that basis is to misunderstand both their purpose and accesses and the applicable law. Appellants requested their depositions not to gain evidence generated and the applicable law. Appellants requested their depositions not to gain evidence generated are seen and the applicable law. Appellants requested their depositions not to gain evidence generated and the applicable law. Appellants requested their depositions not to gain evidence generated and the applicable law. Appellants requested their deposition to the Arbitration Agree sector decays are in the associated of the case but rather only to the grounds of opposition to the Arbitration Agree sector case is thus distinct from the precedential cases in which the courts found a wait sector of importantly the proponent for arbitration was taking discovery apparently relating to the sector (defendant insurance companies waived right to arbitrate where they "substantially capacitor of conducting Horton's deposition."); *Pass Termite and Pest Control v. Walker*, 904 Marker and the sector of delay in moving to enforce arbitration agreement, resulted in waiver). Approached the angle, this case simply shows no waiver.

Here, the Circuit Court relied upon *Century 21 Maselle and Associates, Inc. v. Smith*, 965 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 2007) ("*Century 21*") for its conclusion that Appellants waived their right to arbitrate. Appellants respectfully submit that the lower court misapplied that case.

There, the defendant initially responded to the plaintiff's complaint with an answer, which included a motion to compel arbitration (among other defenses) but which also demanded a jury trial, and he noticed a hearing of the motion roughly 2 months after service of the complaint on him. *Century 21*, 965 So.2d at 1034 (¶4). But, the defendant also served on the plaintiff written discovery, which he did not pursue. *Id.* The circuit court denied the motion, reasoning that the service of the discovery, together with the jury demand, resulted in a waiver of the right to arbitrate. *Id.* at (¶4).

On appeal, the Supreme Court reversed the lower court's decision. *Id.* at 1039 (¶14). The Supreme Court began its analysis by observing its precedents on point, particularly *Horton. Id.* at 1036 (¶8). The Court held: "In summary, either active participation or substantial invocation of the litigation process which results in detriment or prejudice to the other party, or engaging in conduct inconsistent with timely enforcing the arbitration agreement, constitutes waiver." *Id.* But, the Court emphasized that the party "claiming waiver must offer sufficient evidence at a hearing to overcome the presumption in favor of arbitration," and the Court concluded that the plaintiffs had failed to present such evidence. *Id.* at 1036-37 (¶8).

Turning to the demand for a jury trial, the Court held that it alone was not sufficient to result in a waiver, noting that the concurrent motion to compel arbitration mitigated the jury demand and that "request for a jury trial did not delay resolution of the controversy, did not add to the expense of litigation, and did not substantially invoke the judicial process." *Id.* at 1037 (¶9). The Court then turned to the defendant's service of discovery, observing that service of

discovery is traditionally a factor weighing in favor of a waiver. *Id.* at 1037-38 (¶10). But, the Court declined to find a waiver, observing that the plaintiff offered no proof in the record establishing any prejudice resulting from the defendant's conduct. *Id.* at 1038-39 (¶12).

Preliminarily, Appellants note the several distinctions between the case *sub judice* and *Century 21*. The first and more minor distinction is that here Appellants never demanded a jury trial. Second, although Appellants requested of Ms. Williams' counsel dates for the depositions of the affiants whose affidavits she used to oppose the Arbitration Agreement, they never actually filed notices of deposition or served written discovery, unlike the defendant in *Century 21*. Third, whereas the defendant's discovery there was apparently intended to probe and litigate the merits of the case, here Appellants' proposed discovery would have probed only Ms. Williams' grounds for opposing the Arbitration Agreement. Importantly, the *only* similarity between this case and *Century 21* is that in *neither* case did the opponent of arbitration, there the defendant and here Ms. Williams, come forward with evidence establishing on the record *any* meaningful prejudice to the opponent from the proponent's, here Appellants', conduct.

More to the point, the Circuit Court relied on *Century 21* for the proposition that Appellants alleged failure to schedule and notice promptly a hearing of their Motion to Compel Arbitration resulted in a waiver. Again, though, Appellants reason for not bringing their Motion for hearing earlier was their need to take discovery relating to Ms. Williams' grounds for opposing the Arbitration Agreement. In Mississippi, it is not mere delay but "unreasonable" delay that weighs in favor of a waiver of the right to arbitrate. *Horton*, 926 So.2d at 180 (¶42). And, even under *Century 21*, the fact that Appellants sought to depose the affiants only to discover their grounds for opposing the Arbitration Agreement, not their grounds for bringing their underlying claims, is consistent with the holding of that case.

Two rulings from Century 21 are pertinent. First is the following: "Given the presumption in favor of arbitration ... in the absence of prejudice or invocation of the court's jurisdiction for a purpose other than the declaration of arbitrability vel non, the circuit court either clearly erred in denying the motion to compel arbitration..." Id. at 1038 (¶12). In referring to the "invocation of the court's jurisdiction for a purpose other than the declaration of the arbitrability," the Supreme Court recognized that some invocation of the judicial process is a practical necessity for proponents of arbitration. In other words, so long as the proponent of arbitration invokes the trial court's jurisdiction in order to obtain a declaration of arbitrability, the proponent as a matter of law cannot be deemed to have waived the right to arbitrate. The second is as follows: "Discovery, a procedural implement of the courts, should not be initiated as its use may be deemed active participation in a court proceeding and inconsistent with the right to arbitration." Id. at 1039 (¶12). Notably, the Supreme Court did not draw a bright-line rule turning the undertaking of any discovery into an automatic waiver of the right to arbitrate. The Court used the exhortative "should not" rather than the mandatory "shall not" in referring to the initiation of discovery. And, instead of ruling that discovery shall always be deemed active participation in the judicial process inconsistent with the right to arbitrate, the Court ruled only that discovery "may" be so deemed, meaning that the lower courts would be permitted, but not required, to find a waiver in that regard.

Thus, taken all together, these rulings leave the door open to some invocation of the judicial process in the way of discovery without the result of a "waiver." And where, as here, the opponent of arbitration opposes arbitration with evidence creating an evidentiary burden on the proponent to respond to and rebut the same, discovery limited strictly to that narrow purpose, the very kind sought here by Appellants, is consistent with the rulings of *Century 21*.

٠.

2. The case should be remanded for discovery.

In turn, Appellants submit next that this Court should remand this case is further proceedings to obtain the necessary declaration of arbitrability, namely some discovery strictly limited to Ms. Williams' grounds for opposition to the Arbitration Agreement. Courts is set other jurisdictions have allowed discovery relating to the enforceability of an arbitration agreement to proceed where material factual issues cannot be resolved without discovery. See Obtains v. *National Health Corp.*, No. M2005-01272-SC-R11-CV, 2007 WL 3284669, at *11 is a fern. Nov. 8, 2007) (remanding nursing-facility case for discovery into whether arbitration agreement in limited discovery to determine the enforceability of an arbitration agreement *verly Enterprises-Mississippi, Inc. v. Powell*, No. 06-60468, 2007 WL 2228537 (5th Cir. Auguet 2007) (remanding nursing-facility case for resolution of conflicting depositional evidence of an in discovery concerning enforceability of arbitration agreement).³

Here, again, fundamental fairness requires that Appellants be allowed some theorem aged into Ms. Williams' grounds for challenging the Arbitration Agreement. Ms. Williams charlenged the Arbitration Agreement with her submission of two affidavits (and other eviders are entired forth facts from which she intended the lower court to hold the Arbitration and the eviders are entired unenforceable. Yet, when Appellants sought to take the depositions of the affiants for the eviders are entired purpose of rebutting her proof, Ms. Williams argued that Appellants' request for succeeder to any resulted in a waiver of the right to arbitrate, whereupon nothing was left for the lower of the other do but to deny arbitration. Ms. Williams cannot have it both ways. Either she should not the entire of the en-

² A copy of this opinion is attached as Exhibit 1.

³ A copy of this opinion is attached as Exhibit 2.

submit their testimony and then to bar Appellants from examining the witnesses who offer proof against Appellants is fundamentally wrong. Appellants therefore submit that this case should be remanded for discovery, strictly limited to Ms. Williams' grounds for opposing the Arbitration Agreement, to proceed.

3. Alternatively, Ms. Williams is estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement.

Alternatively, if the Court is not inclined to remand for discovery to proceed, this Court should reverse the lower court because Ms. Williams was estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement, and the Court should further remand with instructions to enforce the Arbitration Agreement. Namely, because Ms. Williams sued for breach of Ms. Henderson's Admission Agreement, the contract containing the Arbitration Agreement, she is estopped from challenging the latter instrument.

In her Complaint, Ms. Williams twice alleges that Ms. Henderson had a contract for healthcare services with Appellants. (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 5, at ¶15; p. 9, at ¶36). She further alleges that by virtue of their medical negligence in rendering health care to Ms. Henderson, Appellants breached the healthcare-services contract, (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 10, at ¶37), whereby Ms. Henderson suffered injury, (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 10, at ¶38), entitling Ms. Williams to recover monetary damages. (T.R., Vol. 1, p. 11, at ¶43).

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