**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
CASE # 2008-CA-00925**

**MANHATTAN NURSING &
REHABILITATION CENTER, LLC**

APPELLANT

V.

**LOUISE WILLIAMS, Individually and
on Behalf of WILLIE MAE HENDERSON**

APPELLEE

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE
(Oral Argument Requested)**

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE:

John F. Hawkins, Esquire (MS Bar # [REDACTED])
W. Andrew Neely, Esquire (MS Bar # [REDACTED])
HAWKINS, STRACENER & GIBSON, PLLC
129B South President Street
Post Office Box 24627
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4627
Telephone: (601) 969-9692
Facsimile: (601) 914-3580

Darryl M. Gibbs, Esquire
Tabor, Chhabra & Gibbs
120 N. Congress Street
Jackson, MS 39201

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
CASE # 2008-CA-00925**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellees would submit that the trial court should be affirmed as it correctly ruled that under *Century 21 Maselle and Associates v. Smith*⁹, the Defendants waived their right to enforce

⁷The Southern Reporter citation for this case is *Century 21 Maselle and Associates v. Smith*, 965 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 2007).

⁸Defendants state in their brief that at the time they served this Brief they did not know of the Order entered by the Court on August 22, 2007, denying their Motion to Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively, Motion to Dismiss. Appellant's Brief at 6. Though Plaintiffs have no reason to doubt this assertion, Defendants' motion was clearly "made moot" or "mooted" by the trial court's August 22, 2007 Order denying the Defendant's Motion.

⁹ 965 So.2d 1031, 1038-39 (Miss. 2007).

arbitration by not promptly scheduling and noticing a hearing on their Motion to Compel and otherwise conducting themselves in a manner inconsistent with the enforcement of arbitration.

In the present case, though the Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration, they also simultaneously filed a Motion to Dismiss the Plaintiffs' Complaint in its entirety, as to certain parties, and as to various claims made by the Plaintiff, straying from requesting merely a disposition on the Arbitration Agreement, and invoking the judicial process for relief on other matters. In invoking the trial's courts jurisdiction with its Motion to Dismiss, the Defendants prejudiced the Plaintiffs by forcing them to take potentially binding positions on numerous matters not relating to arbitration, creating the potential for inconsistent rulings between a court of law and an arbitral forum. Further, the Defendants then sought to invoke the judicial process by engaging in discovery, to wit: requesting the Plaintiffs' daughters' depositions, at times for arbitration related matters and at other times, as to the merits of the case also. Lastly, despite the fact the Plaintiffs made Ms. Henderson's daughters available for deposition on numerous occasions, and despite the fact that the Plaintiffs noticed the arbitration Motion for hearing, the Defendants failed to bring their Motion to Compel Arbitration before the court in a timely manner. Defendants even attempted to unilaterally cancel the hearing on their own motion, refused to work with counsel and the Court as to reasonable alternatives to being heard in person before the Court and then failed to attend the hearing on August 16, 2007 on their own motion. As such delay created prejudice to the Plaintiffs' ability to reach the merits of the case, the finding of a waiver was warranted.

The Defendants' request that this case should be remanded for further discovery should this court determine that the trial court's finding of waiver was improper is likewise without merit. The Defendants cite to little authority for their proposition that they should be allowed to use a litigation tool in support of their Motion to Compel Arbitration. Rather, Mississippi law dictates that

discovery should not be used in this situation as it is deemed to be active participation in the judicial process and inconsistent with the right to arbitrate.

Finally, the Defendants' argument that the Plaintiffs are equitably estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement is irrelevant to this Appeal and substantively, should not be well-taken. Because the trial court did not rule – nor did it even address – the Defendants' argument that the Plaintiffs should be estopped from challenging the Arbitration Agreement, as a procedural matter, this Court need not address it. Moreover, and alternatively, as the Defendants have stated in prior briefing, the Plaintiffs' breach of contract claim against the Defendants is not proper. As is clear, the Plaintiffs' claim is a negligence claim for medical and nursing negligence — a tort claim. As such, Plaintiffs do not intend to pursue their breach of contract claim originally brought and would hereby confess said claim. Finally, irrespective of whether this Court accepts Plaintiffs' confession of their breach of contract claim, the authority cited by the Defendants for their proposition that equitable estoppel should apply is distinguishable from and inapposite to the present case. The cases cited by Defendants are, at their core, contract cases, not tort cases. Therefore, the Defendants' estoppel argument should either be denied on its merits or denied as moot.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The grant or denial of a motion to compel arbitration is reviewed de novo. *Century 21 Maselle*, 965 So.2d at 1035; *East Ford, Inc., v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002); *Webb v. Investacorp, Inc.*, 89 F.2d 252, 256 (5th Cir. 1996).

I. Th trial court's finding that the Defendants waived their right to compel arbitration is in accord with Mississippi case law and should be affirmed

The trial court held that because the Defendants “failed to promptly schedule and notice a

set their Motion for hearing.¹⁰ Seeing that the Defendants had no intentions of timely seeking enforcement of their Arbitration Agreement, and because the Plaintiffs did not want to suffer from any unnecessary delay, on May 24, 2007, the Plaintiffs noticed the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration for hearing. (R. 172) Said hearing was set for August 16, 2007, nearly three (3) months after the hearing was noticed.¹¹ (R. 172)

At this point, the Defendants began to request discovery from the Plaintiffs, namely, depositions of the Willie Mae Henderson's daughters, Mary Still and Louise Williams. (R. 189) At times, defense counsel requested depositions of Still and Williams with the scope of the depositions limited to arbitration issues only; at other times, defense counsel offered to take their depositions without limitations in scope. (R. 189, 194-95) Plaintiffs agreed to allow the Defendants to depose Still and Williams and informed defense counsel that, aside from one or two days days, Still and Williams could be made available for deposition at any point during the months of June and July. (R. 191) For one month, Plaintiffs received no response from the Defendants regarding Still's and Williams' depositions. Then, on June 28, 2007, defense counsel informed Plaintiffs' counsel that he wanted to have the August 16, 2007 hearing date continued to a later date. (R. 197-198) The Plaintiffs did not agree to any continuance as they intended to avoid any further prejudice by the Defendants' delay. (R. 197-98) One month after that, the Defendants responded to the Plaintiffs via letter, charging the Plaintiffs with unilaterally setting the August 16, 2007 hearing date two months prior. (R. 202) Likewise, Defendants' counsel accused the Plaintiffs of not providing them with

¹⁰At no point during the five (5) month period between the time that Defendants filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration or Alternatively, Motion to Dismiss, did the Defendants Notice their Motion to Hearing for hearing.

¹¹As Plaintiffs note *supra* in the "Procedural Facts" section of this Brief, Plaintiffs consulted the trial court and defense counsel prior to noticing the hearing date as indicated by various pieces of correspondence between Plaintiffs and Defendants' counsel. (R. 189, 191-192, 194-195, 197-98).

dates for the Still and Williams depositions,¹² despite the fact that Plaintiffs' counsel had made Still and Williams available for deposition at any point – but for a few days – during the months of June and July. (R. 191, 202-03) (R. 202-03) Further, defense counsel filed a curious pleading styled “[Notice] of Cancellation of Hearing” purporting to cancel the hearing which had previously set (with defense counsel’s knowledge) for over two months. (R. 174-75) Defense counsel likewise informed Plaintiffs emphatically that he would not appear in the Hinds County Circuit Court on August 16, 2007, with the following rationale:

I have a conflict with that date – namely a court-ordered evidentiary hearing in Memphis for which I must be present. Significantly, unlike my case in Memphis, there is no order from the Court in this case scheduling any hearing on August 16th, and thus I am under no binding obligation to appear in Hinds County Circuit Court on August 16, 2007.

(R. 202) Of course, such justification was unacceptable as the Plaintiffs were never given a style, cause number, or justification for defense counsel’s failure to inform the Tennessee court of his prior obligation in the Hinds County Circuit Court for the arbitration enforcement hearing. This was merely another delaying tactic by the Defendants, to the ultimate detriment of the Plaintiffs.

Still hoping to avoid further delay by fault of the Defendants, the Plaintiffs offered to seek to have the matter heard telephonically on several occasions in order to accommodate the Defendants’ counsel. (R. 208, 213, 221) Likewise, Plaintiffs’ counsel suggested to the trial court that there was sufficient evidence before it – briefs, pleadings, and exhibits, and correspondence – to rule on the Defendants’ motion. (R. 221) Defendants informed the Court that the matter was not yet ripe for hearing, telephonically or otherwise, hoping to delay the matter even further by asserting that

¹² Defense counsel incorrectly addressed the issue as follows: “Concerning the depositions, I have asked you on several occasions to give me dates when Mary Still and Louise Williams may be available to be deposed in relation to the issues that you raised concerning the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement that is before the Court. You are yet to respond with any such dates.” (R. 203)

they could not move forward until Still and Williams were deposed.¹³ (R. 223)

As the August 16, 2007 arbitration enforcement hearing was never cancelled, Plaintiffs' counsel attended the hearing. (R. 226) Defendants' counsel failed to attend.¹⁴ (R. 226, 228) The Court therefore decided to rule on the Motion on the pleadings, briefs, exhibits, and correspondence before it. (R. 226, 228). In the meanwhile, *Century 21 Maselle* was handed down by this Court, mandating that a party who seeks to enforce arbitration yet fails to promptly notice and bring his Motion to Compel Arbitration before the court, risks waiving enforcement of the arbitration agreement. *Century 21 Maselle*, 965 So.2d at 1038. As is evidenced by its ruling, the trial court clearly found that by the Defendants' failure to ever notice and schedule their Motion to Compel Arbitration for hearing; their attempts to unjustifiably continue the hearing noticed by the Plaintiffs; their attempts to engage in discovery; and their refusal to attend the hearing on their own motion, that the Defendants' conduct was inconsistent with timely enforcement of an arbitration agreement. (R. 181)

Under *Century 21 Maselle* and its progeny, the trial court was correct in its ruling that the Defendants had waived their right to enforce arbitration. (R. 181) The Defendants never scheduled or noticed their Motion to Compel Arbitration for hearing; it was noticed by the Plaintiffs. (R. 172) The Defendants engaged in substantial litigation with their Motion to Dismiss, a motion that forced that forced the Plaintiffs to respond with binding legal positions on non-arbitration related issues. (R. 13-16, 17-79) The Defendants then asked for depositions, a litigation tool provided for by the

¹³By this point, defense counsel sought to depose Still and Williams on arbitration related matters only.

¹⁴As the record reflects, Defendants intimated on several occasions that they were concerned about the Plaintiffs' alleged *ex parte* conduct with the Court. (R. 230-31, 237-38) Clearly, this was not the case. Plaintiffs counsel merely were present for the hearing that had been scheduled for nearly three (3) months. In open court, the trial court stated that as defense counsel was not present for the hearing it would simply rule on the pleadings and briefs already before it. That the foregoing would constitute prohibited *ex parte* conduct is patently absurd.

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 189) Despite the Plaintiffs making the putative deponents available, the Defendants delayed, never noticing Williams and Stills' depositions, and then subsequently attempted to unilaterally cancel the arbitration hearing that had been set for over two (2) months. (R. 174-75) All the while, the Plaintiffs merely attempted to bring the Arbitration matter to the court in the most expeditious manner possible, asking the trial court to hear the matter telephonically or, to simply rule on the materials it already had before it. (R. 221, 224). Defendants refused to be heard on their own motion. Thus, the trial court properly found that the actions and inactions of the Defendants were inconsistent with the timely enforcement of arbitration. Moreover, the Defendants actions and inactions resulted in prejudice to the Plaintiffs in their legal positions taken and in the substantial delay in bringing the arbitration matter on for resolution.

In accordance with *Century 21 Maselle*, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling that the Defendants waived their right to seek enforcement of arbitration.

II. Arbitration related discovery is not proper

Defendants argue that should this Court reverse the trial court, it should remand for discovery on arbitration related matters. First and foremost, this case should be affirmed on the waiver issue. Second, Plaintiffs would submit that so-called "arbitration related discovery" was not proper when the Defendants were previously requesting it in the lower court and, moreover, what the lower court should do upon remand is not an issue that is properly before this Court at this juncture.

As this Court has previously stated, "*The [Federal Arbitration Act] does not provide for discovery.*" *Century 21 Maselle*, 965, So.2d 1037, 1038 (emphasis added). Further, this Court stated the following:

Pursuing discovery, a litigation tool, creates the danger of incongruent

determinations by lower courts regarding whether such action constitutes active participation in, or substantial invocation of, the litigation process. From this day forward, the advice of *Phillips*¹⁵ and caveat of *Walker*¹⁶ are the mandate of this Court, in accord with the FAA. Parties seeking to enforce arbitration are to file a “Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Stay Proceedings Pending Arbitration” immediately upon discovery that the controversy or suit is subject to an arbitration agreement. **All proceedings, including the filing of responsive pleadings (answer or otherwise) and discovery, in prospective cases involving an arbitration agreement shall be suspended** upon the timely filing and notice of a “Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Stay Proceedings Pending Arbitration.”

Id at 1038 (emphasis added). This Court made absolutely clear as demonstrated *supra* that all proceedings, *including discovery*, shall be suspended upon the filing of a Motion to Compel Arbitration. *Id*. Notably, the Court in *Century 21 Maselle* did not provide that parties should be allowed to engage in “arbitration related discovery.” Of course, this is in sound keeping with the dual principles of prohibiting litigation proceedings when a party is attempting to enforce arbitration and preventing unreasonable delay to the ultimate detriment and prejudice of the party opposing arbitration. *Id*.

The Defendants argue that “fundamental fairness requires that Appellants be allowed some discovery into Ms. Williams’ grounds for challenging the Arbitration Agreement.” Appellant’s Brief at 14. The Defendants claim that the Williams and Still affidavits attached to the Plaintiffs’ response to the Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration somehow entitle the Defendants to a round of discovery. Appellant’s Brief at 14. While the affidavits may, indeed, create an evidentiary issue for the moving party to oppose, it does not *ipso facto* entitle a party to discovery on the issue. Rather, as this Court stated, when a party moves to Compel Arbitration, the proper procedure is that all litigation proceedings should be stayed and a hearing should be promptly scheduled and noticed.

¹⁵ *University Nursing Associates, PLLC v. Phillips*, 842 So.2d 1270 (Miss. 2003).

¹⁶ *Pass Termite and Pest Control v. Walker*, 904 So.2d 1030 (Miss. 2004).

Id at 1038. Of course, this does not mean that the party moving for arbitration – here, the Defendants – are treated unfairly. Indeed, the Defendants here were entitled to require that Williams and Still provide testimony at the August 16, 2007 hearing in regards to their affidavits.

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